HEALTH PSYCHOLOGY: Mapping Biobehavioral Contributions to Health and Illness

Andrew Baum and Donna M. Posluszny

Behavioral Medicine and Oncology, University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15213; e-mail: baum@pcicirs.pci.pitt.edu

KEY WORDS: stress, health behavior, coping, emotion, disease

ABSTRACT

Our evolving understanding of how psychosocial and behavioral factors affect health and disease processes has been marked by investigation of specific relationships and mechanisms underlying them. Stress and other emotional responses are components of complex interactions of genetic, physiological, behavioral, and environmental factors that affect the body's ability to remain or become healthy or to resist or overcome disease. Regulated by nervous, endocrine, and immune systems, and exerting powerful influence on other bodily systems and key health-relevant behaviors, stress and emotion appear to have important implications for the initiation or progression of cancer, HIV, cardiovascular disease, and other illnesses. Health-enhancing and health-impairing behaviors, including diet, exercise, tobacco use, and protection from the sun, can compromise or benefit health and are directed by a number of influences as well. Finally, health behaviors related to being ill or trying to avoid disease or its severest consequences are important. Seeking care and adhering to medical regimens and recommendations for disease surveillance allow for earlier identification of health threats and more effective treatment. Evidence that biobehavioral factors are linked to health in integrated, complex ways continues to mount, and knowledge of these influences has implications for medical outcomes and health care practice.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	138
BEHAVIOR AND HEALTH	139
Stress	140
Coping	141
BIOBEHAVIORAL INFLUENCES IN DISEASE PROCESSES	143
Stress and Disease Processes	143
Stress, Behavior, and Cancer	145
Stress, HIV, and AIDS	146
HEALTH-PROTECTIVE AND HEALTH-IMPAIRING BEHAVIORS 1	147
Diet, Obesity, and Health	147
Exercise	150
Cigarette Smoking and Tobacco Use	150
Sun Protection and Skin Cancer Prevention	152
HEALTH BEHAVIOR 1	152
Screening and Surveillance	153
Adherence	154
CONCLUSIONS	155

INTRODUCTION

Thoughts, feelings, and behaviors affect our health and well-being. Recognition of the importance of these influences on health and disease is consistent with evolving conceptions of mind and body and represents a significant change in medicine and the life sciences. This history of medicine is marked by the rise and fall of misconceptions and ineffective therapies and by illconceived notions of how the body works were dominant for hundreds of years. The development of modern theories of atherosclerosis, for example, explained heart disease in ways that prompted effective medical interventions just as germ theories and models of immunity revolutionized the treatment and prevention of infectious illnesses. More recent developments include the idea that emotional processes such as stress moderate activity in nearly all systems of the body and can directly influence the pathophysiology of disease. Discovery of these and other relationships between behavior and health has changed the way health and disease are portrayed.

Interest in health and behavior is expanding at the National Institutes of Health, in the media, at work and school, and increasingly in medical schools and medical practice. This interest is also reflected in the rapid development of health psychology and its more multidisciplinary cousin, behavioral medicine. These fields grew rapidly in the 1980s and now constitute major endeavors in most university and medical center settings. The research upon which these activities is based embraces a broad agenda, including studies of prevention, screening, and early detection, etiology of disease, predictors of prognosis to treatment of disease, rehabilitation, and post-illness adjustment and quality of

life. Basic research on the mechanisms and outcomes of bodily changes associated with stress, tobacco, diet, exercise, or other psychosocial variables and clinical studies of intervention and/or treatment outcomes provide compelling evidence of the extent and importance of psychosocial or behavioral variables.

BEHAVIOR AND HEALTH

Although experimental evidence is still inconsistent in some cases, the weight of data from studies of health and behavior strongly suggests that psychological processes and emotional states influence the etiology and progression of disease and contribute to overall host resistance or vulnerability to illness. In general, psychosocial or behavioral factors exert their influence on health or illness in three basic ways (e.g. Krantz et al 1985). First, some of these influences involve direct biological changes that parallel, precede, are induced by, or occur as part of an emotional reaction or behavior pattern. Research has shown, for example, that stress involves increases in blood pressure, heart rate, and sympathetic arousal and is associated with hematological changes that can contribute directly to heart disease, hypertension, or cardiac events (e.g. Manuck & Krantz 1984; Patterson et al 1994, 1995; Schneiderman 1983). Similarly, stress appears to affect the immune system through a complex array of neural and hormonal pathways (Besedovsky & DelRey 1991, Maier & Watkins 1998). Whether these immune system changes are strong or prolonged enough to enhance vulnerability to infection or illness is not clear, but they have been implicated in the etiology and progression of viral infections, wound healing, cancer, and HIV disease (e.g. Andersen et al 1994, Baum & Nesselhof 1988, Cohen & Williamson 1991, Kiecolt-Glaser et al 1985).

A second way in which health and disease are influenced is by behaviors that convey risks or protect against them. *Health-enhancing* behaviors are activities that convey health benefits or otherwise protect people from disease. *Health-impairing* behaviors are activities that have harmful effects on health. Diet and exercise are often cited as protective behaviors, and tobacco use and alcohol abuse as health-impairing behaviors. Diet and exercise can help minimize the conditions underlying cardiovascular disease and cancer. Tobacco use is associated with biological changes in the lungs, heart, and other bodily systems that appear to predispose disease. Similarly, drug use, high-risk sexual activity, and other potentially harmful behaviors are important mediators of disease processes.

A third general pathway for behavioral influences on health and illness is through behaviors associated with illness or the possibility that one is ill. Beginning with early detection, these influences include secondary prevention, surveillance, detection and interpretation of symptoms, and the decision to seek care. Adherence with medical advice or prescription can also affect diagnosis and treatment and affect health outcomes. Interference with any of these can disrupt the process of interpreting and presenting symptoms, obtaining prompt and effective medical care, and complying with treatment, surveillance, or prevention regimens.

Elaborations of this basic model of health and behavior have been developed to help explain the comorbidity of physical and mental health problems and the etiology and progression of cancer and stress-related diseases (e.g. Andersen et al 1994, Cohen & Rodriguez 1996). Evidence linking key pieces of these models has been reported, and although it is far from complete in many instances, it supports the notion that behavioral variables affect health and illness at these three different levels. This review considers evidence for this psychosocial perspective, focusing on major life-threatening illnesses such as cardiovascular disease, cancer, and HIV disease. Because of its complex role in health and illness, stress will be considered briefly before turning to evidence of direct biological effects on health and illness, of indirect and direct effects of health-impairing behaviors, and of the counter-influence of healthenhancing behaviors. Health behaviors, particularly adherence and early detection behavior, are also considered.

Stress

Stress is a particularly important mediator of health-behavior relationships because it is a common and seemingly inevitable aspect of life and because its broad effects can influence a range of bodily systems and behaviors. Its pervasiveness belies the controversy that surrounds its definition, and its breadth has led to debates over measurement and the utility of stress as a singular construct. Stress generally refers to the nonspecific aspects of dealing with environmental change, demand, and/or threat, though some models characterize it as a stimulus and others describe it solely in terms of responses (Cannon 1929, Selve 1976, Mason 1975). Depiction of stress as nonspecific mobilization was consistent with evolutionary theory, suggesting that stress evolved because nonspecific arousal strengthens and supports efforts to adapt to environmental threats. Some have argued that stress is best viewed as a process, with a signature psychological state and associated physiological changes (Lazarus 1966). Similar to emotions, stress consists of characteristic physiological, affective, cognitive, and behavioral changes that can have costs for well-being whether or not successful adaptation is achieved. Integrated biobehavioral patterns of activation such as stress appear to exert fundamental effects on health.

STRESS AND EMOTION Stress appears to involve more or less simultaneous activation of psychological and biological systems. Recognition of a threat or challenge is accompanied by immediate systemic arousal produced by

the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) and the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenocortical (HPA) axis. At the same time, stress is associated with changes in mood, alertness, attention, memory, problem-solving, task performance, and well being. This cascade of changes is initiated by detection of a stressor and/or appraisal of the extent to which threat, danger, or challenge are likely (Lazarus 1966). This appraisal also includes evaluation of the resources one can bring to bear on a stressor, and appears to affect subsequent response (Tomaka et al 1997). Once threat or demand is recognized, ensuing responses may all occur simultaneously and changes in arousal and discomfort are rapid. It is not clear whether one or another aspect of the stress response triggers the others or whether these changes emerge more or less as a single integrated pattern. Regardless, stress is typically characterized by the same kind of central and peripheral activation as are emotions such as anger or fear.

EFFECTS OF STRESS Another implication of the foregoing discussion is that the arousal associated with stress may be a primary mechanism by which stress affects health. Nonspecific biological and behavioral changes that accompany appraisal and/or emotional arousal can be thought of as the *stress response*, including heightened cardiovascular and respiratory function, and changes in blood flow, digestion, and skeletal muscle tone. Behavioral changes in attention and alertness are also part of this basic stress response and help focus and support coping activity. Endocrine, immune, and neural changes also occur, and stress responses reflect those that are related to supporting maximal strength and vigilance.

All these changes have negative side-effects or byproducts or can cause harm if stress is prolonged or very intense. Persistent, sustained physiological arousal or frequent, rapid increases in arousal have a range of consequences, including wear and tear on arteries and coronary vessels, formation of thrombi, suppression of host resistance, and other direct biological effects. Changes in alertness, narrowed attention, and irritability could produce consequences such as poorer problem-solving and task performance, disrupted social relationships, and poorer quality of life, which could affect decisions involving health risks and affect health indirectly. The emotional, cognitive, behavioral, and physiological changes that occur as part of the stress response are the mechanisms by which stress conveys consequences for health and well-being.

Coping

Coping constitutes an important aspect of stress, one of the principal routes that behavioral and cognitive responses can take during stress. Ultimately, coping is the main focus of stress responses that support strong, rapid reactions. Stress appears to have two basic functions: to motivate people to manipulate or accommodate stressors and to support activity directed at reduction or elimination of them. Although stress can be generated by positive as well as negative events, it is generally experienced as discomfort, tension, or negative affect. Harm, loss, anger, threat, and uncertainty are all associated with negative emotions, and the arousal experienced as a function of stress is also considered unpleasant or uncomfortable. This discomfort or tension produced during stress motivates the individual experiencing stress to do something about it. This suggests that the changes associated with stress support coping, the primary product of stress. We have suggested, for example, that stress involves arousal designed to support rapid, strong response to danger. Coping is that response to danger consisting of behavior or other activities that are intended to resolve the stressor or minimize its effects.

Coping is the most specific of stress responses. Unlike the readying response described above, coping is thought to be selected by individuals because it is well-suited to the stressor or situation (Lazarus & Folkman 1984). Application of particular kinds of coping is also affected by the resources one brings to the situation and by person variables that influence one's choices or predispositions to act (e.g. Scheier & Carver 1992, Lester et al 1994). The effectiveness of coping aimed at manipulating the stressor or attacking the problem posing the threat can usually be readily assessed. However, coping directed at minimizing, deflecting, or managing distress are more difficult to evaluate and may become more persistent, generalized responses to threat or demand. In this regard, well-learned responses like social withdrawal or helplessness may become predominant coping devices and potentially harmful behaviors such as smoking, drinking, and drug use may be used routinely to reduce distress or self-medicate discomfort.

The arousal that motivates and supports these actions is thought to be one mechanism by which stress affects health, increasing wear and tear on bodily systems and damage to arteries, neural systems, and organ systems, and reducing resistance to pathogenesis. Coping that conveys specific effects on physiological systems (e.g. drug use) can add to the potential for calamity by further suppressing immune system function, taxing the heart and circulatory system, damaging the lungs, or depriving the body of the nutrients it needs during sustained or repeated activation.

If coping is the product of stress response, its potential health consequences are a byproduct of this activity and reflect nonspecific costs of coping. Alternatively, stress-related disease may reflect breakdown in compensatory systems designed to relieve the arousal built up during stress or otherwise protect the body from its harmful effects. Exercise, for example, may help reduce arousal or manage its negative impact. The complex balance that defines good health and the many ways in which stress can disrupt it are among the factors that explain why stress exerts such pervasive effects on health and disease.

BIOBEHAVIORAL INFLUENCES IN DISEASE PROCESSES

At a neural or molecular level, the similarities and interconnectedness of behaviors and biological events are unmistakable, and at higher levels of functioning it appears increasingly certain that psychological or behavioral variables affect and are affected by their biological context. At some levels, behavior is produced by a complex series of neural, hormonal, and effector systems and these systems are regulated by bodily milieu. The biological correlates and consequences of emotional reactions, stress, and many thoughts and behaviors also contribute directly to host defense, health, and illness.

Emotional events are processed in the CNS by several partially redundant structures, including the limbic system and reward centers in the brain. They can be viewed as neural events that have been selected through evolution and that have helped assure our species' survival (LeDoux 1996). Emotional patterns such as stress responses are hardwired in the CNS, but one's experience also defines the content and conditions that give rise to particular responses (LeDoux 1996). In a sense, the emotional system "learns" about the external correlates of internal responses. This "learning" about the external correlates of internal responses may also be characteristic of stress. Factors that affect the magnitude and duration of stress responses are learned but the responses themselves are highly integrated and automated. These response patterns appear to involve nonspecific changes in most bodily systems and more specific reactions associated with the situation and sources of stress affecting the organism.

Stress and Disease Processes

Many biological changes accompanying stress or emotional arousal are extended and intensified by a cascade of endocrine and immunological changes that help to modulate bodily response. These regulatory systems induce circulatory changes, increase heart rate and respiration, and otherwise prepare the organism for action or attention. Research suggests that acute stress is accompanied by increased blood pressure, heart rate, and SNS arousal (e.g. Santagostino et al 1996, Krantz & Manuck 1984, McFetridge & Yarandi 1997). Most systemic arousal associated with stress and emotions such as anger, fear, and sadness reflects catabolic activation in which stored energy is converted into a usable resource and in which growth and repair functions are inhibited (Baum 1990, Mason 1975).

STRESS AND CARDIOVASCULAR RISK Research on the effects of stress and emotional arousal on the cardiovascular system suggests that these states affect pathophysiology as well as trigger disease-related events (e.g. Johnston 1997). For example, anger is associated with responses that promote ischemia or arterial occlusion, heart attacks, and arrhythmias (R Verrier & Mittelman 1996). Anxiety and bereavement are also associated with cardiac events, and stress appears to predispose cardiovascular disease or precipitate ischemic episodes, heart attacks, or other pathological states (Niedhammer et al 1998, Carney et al 1998). Presumably this occurs through a series of interrelated effects of stress or emotional arousal, including direct effects on the heart, on the vasculature, on blood flow and shear stress, and on the constituents of blood such as platelets (Ku 1997; Niebauer & Cooke 1996; Patterson et al 1994, 1995). Hostility has also been linked to sodium consumption and to cardiovascular hyperactivity and risk for high blood pressure (e.g. Miller et al 1998).

Cardiovascular reactivity reflects the magnitude and duration of response to acute stress or challenge and may reflect mediators of cardiovascular risk (Krantz & Manuck 1984, Matthews et al 1990). The magnitude and elasticity of stress responses vary; larger increases in blood pressure or heart rate that follow introduction of a stressor may predict a range of intermediate and more distal outcomes. Blood pressure reactivity appears to be related to future blood pressure and hypertension (e.g. Matthews et al 1993, Pickering & Gerin 1990). Exaggerated blood pressure reactivity is associated with atherosclerosis, although these relationships appear to be modest and most evident among young men (Manuck et al 1989, Jennings et al 1997). Effects of behavior and stress on cholesterol, lipids, neurohormonal regulatory systems, silent ischemia, and oxidative damage have been observed (e.g. E Verrier & Boyle 1996, Howes et al 1997, Pool 1997, Mosca et al 1997). These effects are also related to age, behaviors like smoking, and psychological variables or personality styles such as defensiveness and repressive coping (e.g. Jennings et al 1997, Girdler et al 1997, Helmers & Krantz 1996).

STRESS AND IMMUNE STATUS Research on psychosocial mediation of the immune system suggests it is responsive to changing moods and behaviors. Research in human and animal models is consistent in suggesting that immune system activity is regulated by the CNS (Moynihan & Ader 1996). Further, evidence indicates that stress affects activity in the immune system. Research has been complicated by the fact that responses among different components of the immune system are variable (e.g. Zakowski 1995). Some cells, like natural killer cells, appear to respond differently depending on the chronicity of the stressor (Delahanty et al 1996). Some immune cells also appear to respond to stress differently at different times of day and to follow clear circadian rhythms (Wang et al 1998). Direct effects of stress include acute activation and chronic suppression of natural killer cells, increased latent viral activity, decreased lymphocyte proliferation, and cytokine production (Andersen et al 1998, Pariante et al 1997, Schedlowski et al 1995, Kiecolt-Glaser et al 1994). These influences are thought to be caused by neural and hormonal regulation, principally through arousal of the SNS, the HPA axis, and opioid peptide systems (e.g. Webster et al 1997). Nerve growth factor and cytokine influences are also possible and suggest a broad interface between the nervous and immune systems (e.g. Jenkins & Baum 1995, Aloe et al 1997). The importance of the SNS in observed stress-immune relationships is suggested by studies reporting correlations between SNS indices and immune system change or by studies of the effects of adrenergic blockade (Bachen et al 1995, Manuck et al 1991, Zakowski et al 1992a,b). Exercise and exertion also affect the immune system, often in ways that resemble the impact of stress or emotional arousal (e.g. Perna et al 1997, Nieman 1997).

The immune system communicates directly with the CNS and appears to have a regulatory function in much the same way that the endocrine system supplements and extends neural activation (Maier & Watkins 1998). In addition, some mental health problems are associated with abnormal immune system function (Weisse 1992, Herbert & Cohen 1993). Some of these effects are mediated by cytokines that are activated by neural stimulation (Muller & Ackenheil 1998). Pro-inflammatory cytokines in turn activate the HPA axis and induce fever and illness symptoms, but these effects may also be influenced by glucocorticoids and other stress-related agents (Goujon et al 1997). Interleukin-6 (IL-6) appears to activate the HPA axis as well and may be a component of CNS integration of the stress response (Path et al 1997).

We do not yet know whether observed patterns of change in the immune system reflect alterations that have implications for vulnerability to disease (e.g. Cohen & Rabin 1998). However, there is considerable evidence of changes within the immune system associated with social support, negative affect, stress, and other behavioral or psychological factors, and evidence that these factors affect infectious disease, progression of cancer and HIV disease, and other health outcomes (e.g. Leserman et al 1997, Antoni 1997, Andersen et al 1994, Cohen et al 1991).

Stress, Behavior, and Cancer

Cancer is a generic name for a number of genetic diseases in which normal cells mutate and begin to grow uncontrollably. Cancer typically requires considerable time to develop or to be detected, and there are currently few good markers of disease or disease progression for most forms of cancer. With the lack of good biomarkers for disease processes, surveillance efforts seek to quantify people's risk for cancer and maximize the likelihood of detecting it early in more readily treatable stages.

These limits on our ability to detect very early stage disease or to follow its slow early development make it difficult to study the role of emotions and behavior in the etiology of cancer. Most relevant studies are limited by one or another methodological problem. However, it appears likely that emotional states like stress affect primary cellular functions, such as DNA repair, that could contribute to cancer (e.g. Kiecolt-Glaser et al 1985). It also appears that emotional reactions and adjustment to having cancer or to its treatment can affect progression of disease, survival, quality of life, and other important outcomes of cancer (e.g. Andersen et al 1994, Ramirez et al 1989, Levy et al 1991, Helgeson & Cohen 1996). Some of the strongest evidence of stress or psychosocial mediation of cancer-related outcomes is drawn from intervention programs that provide supportive and/or psychoeducational interventions for cancer patients (e.g. Spiegel et al 1989, Fawzy & Fawzy 1994, V Helgeson et al 1998). Several reviews have concluded that stress management, coping skills training, support, and other aspects of these interventions affect progression of disease, but mechanisms governing these effects are not known (Meyer & Mark 1995, Baum et al 1995, Posluszny et al 1998).

Stress, HIV, and AIDS

HIV disease and AIDS are unusually important as examples of behaviorinfluenced outcomes. They reflect both direct effects on bodily functioning and on behaviors that may affect disease risk and prognosis. They also affect caregivers in powerful ways that can harm their health as well (e.g. Catalan et al 1996, Folkman et al 1997, Folkman 1997, Park & Folkman 1997). The transmission of the virus that causes HIV disease is typically accomplished through behaviors (sexual activity, IV drug use), and because HIV attacks the immune system directly, behaviors or states that affect the immune system should affect HIV. Mental health problems appear to be associated with an increased risk for HIV infection (Hoff et al 1997, O'Leary & Jemmott 1996), presumably because of distress-related increases in risky behavior. High-risk behaviors such as unprotected sexual activity or IV drug use can be minimized, but stress can trigger impulsive behavior, reduce countervailing constraints against high-risk behaviors, or temporarily inhibit or interfere with intentions to avoid them (e.g. Fishbein et al 1998, O'Keefe et al 1990). These impulsive behaviors may occur because of stress-related drug and alcohol use (e.g. Testa & Collins 1997, Robins et al 1997). The implications of increased drug or alcohol abuse include reduced motivation, a false sense of invulnerability, and lack of attention to details or sanctions leading to increased risk and infection (Dingle & Oei 1997, Chandra et al 1996). As a result, people who are intoxicated by drugs or alcohol may not use good judgement, may be more likely to end up in compromising situations, or may simply not care about risks to their health at that moment.

Emotional arousal, stress, and behaviors such as smoking or drug use may affect resistance to the disease or disease progression. Evidence of this possibility is scant and is largely limited to early outcomes related to testing (Evans et al 1997, Antoni et al 1994). However, stress and related states or behaviors are associated with changes in immune system activity that could affect the body's ability to resist or combat the virus. A study of 104 HIV+ individuals enrolled in the Oslo HIV Cohort Study suggested that negative affect was related to somatic symptoms associated with progression, but there was no evidence of mediation of these effects by the immune system (Vassend et al 1997). Distress associated with concealment of sexual identity was positively related to cancer morbidity and incidence of pneumonia and other infectious illnesses (Cole et al 1996). Stress management interventions that enhance or buffer immune system activity have proven useful in treatment of HIV+ individuals (Littrell 1996, Goodkin et al 1997, Pomeroy et al 1997, Schneiderman et al 1992). Aerobic exercise interventions that also reduced distress have had similar effects (LaPerriere et al 1994).

HEALTH-PROTECTIVE AND HEALTH-IMPAIRING BEHAVIORS

Direct effects of stress and emotions are supplemented or modified by behaviors that affect health and disease processes. Behaviors such as diet or exercise can affect health independently but may mitigate, enhance, or modify the effects of stress. Conversely, stress may suppress these behaviors or their benefits. Diet, exercise, sleep, and relaxation are considered to be protective factors that can exert direct effects on physiological sources of risk and indirect effects by reducing the effects of stress and enhancing mood. In addition, stress can affect the likelihood of maintaining these behaviors. A healthy diet appears to directly reduce risk of disease, but maintenance of good nutrition is based on complex motivation and reward systems, and stress can affect the likelihood that one will maintain healthy dietary behavior. Poor diet, conversely, appears to contribute to pathophysiology of disease. In addition, smoking, alcohol consumption, drug use, and other health-impairing behaviors also have direct effects on disease processes and indirect effects on bodily systems and mood or behavior. Together these behaviors reflect insufficiently studied elements in the etiology of disease and keys to health promotion efforts that seek to minimize risk. Maximum sustained reduction of modifiable risk is an important implication of this reasoning and research.

Diet, Obesity, and Health

What people eat and how much they weigh are inherently behavioral processes. The fact that some people are able to maintain a normal or healthy weight while others become obese is almost certainly a result of behavioral and psychological factors working in concert with genetic and metabolic characteristics. Increasingly, one's diet and weight have been implicated in a number of health problems or adult onset diseases, and weight management and nutritional risk management programs have become a standard part of wellness or health promotion campaigns (e.g. Wing 1995a, Weiss et al 1991). Use of vitamin supplements, increasing consumption of fruits, vegetables, and fiber, and moderation of consumption of animal fat are widely believed to predispose better health. Healthier diets and proper nutritional balance may also facilitate weight management and help to prevent obesity. However, dietary change often requires substantial lifestyle change, and weight control has proven difficult for many people to maintain (Wing 1995b).

OBESITY AND CARDIOVASCULAR RISK Perhaps the clearest links between diet and health or disease outcomes are for cardiovascular disease, where fat and cholesterol intake as well as salt consumption, obesity, and weight gain have been implicated as major contributors to coronary artery disease, hypertension, and stroke. Many of the dietary characteristics that affect weight gain and obesity are also risk factors for cardiovascular disease, and some programs seek to intervene to address both issues simultaneously. For example, high-fat meals are less satiating than are high-carbohydrate meals (Golay & Bobbioni 1997), and high-fat diets may be associated with greater overall food consumption and weight gain than are high-carbohydrate diets. In addition, people who are or have been obese do not appear to adapt appropriately to dietary fat and respond to it with increased fat storage (Golay & Bobbioni 1997). Consumption of fat affects eating behaviors as well as metabolism of food, weight gain, and cardiovascular risk in several different ways.

Interventions to prevent obesity and help people to lose weight are successful in achieving short-term benefits, but show more complex and poorer outcomes over longer periods (Wing 1995b). Some are very successful as long as the intervention is maintained and participants comply (Metz et al 1997). Interventions targeting specific ethnic or socioeconomic groups and recognizing cross-group differences in diet and disease risk have also had some success in changing dietary behaviors (e.g. Barry & Wassenaar 1996, Fitzgibbon et al 1996, Stolley & Fitzgibbon 1997).

DIET AND CANCER The literature on the impact of diet and overall weight on the etiology and progression of cancer is more speculative and difficult to evaluate than is research on diet and heart or vascular disease. Nonetheless, research suggests that careful dietary management may help to prevent or control cancers. The literature on the impact of vitamins, foods, and natural products on cancer is growing rapidly.

Data provide some support for the possibility that what people eat affects their risk of developing cancer, but findings are mixed. For example, highfat/low-fiber diets are associated with mammography results indicating high risk of breast cancer, while lower-fat/high-fiber diets are associated with much lower risk mammography profiles (Nordevang et al 1993). However, research has also failed to find associations between fat or fiber intake and cancerrelevant outcomes (Negri et al 1996). Estrogen levels are associated with fat consumption, and dietary fat has been associated with recurrence of breast cancer among women with estrogen-receptor-positive tumors (Longcope et al 1987, Holm et al 1993). These findings are provocative, but more definitive evidence of these relationships must await the results of several ongoing trials.

As with interventions to reduce risk of cardiovascular disease, efforts to manage cancer risk through diet have achieved significant changes in diet. Randomized trials seeking to decrease the percentage of caloric intake from fat have shown that people can modify their diet and achieve recommended or target levels of fat intake or weight loss (e.g. Heber et al 1992, Meyskens et al 1985, Schapira et al 1991). Similar efforts have been linked to increased consumption of healthy foods and fiber (Domel et al 1993, Atwood et al 1992). Attitudes, knowledge, or beliefs about associations between diet and disease can also be manipulated to help alter patterns of food consumption. People who believe that diet and cancer are linked, who know what recommendations to follow, and who believe that others support modification of diet to reduce cancer risk are more likely to make healthy changes in diet than people who do not (Patterson et al 1996). Among people considering their risk of cancer, it appears that many adults are willing and able to modify diet when there is clear evidence for it.

STRESS AND DIET Stress is thought to affect diet and weight at several different levels. Negative mood may lead people to eat more and may result in their seeking "comfort foods" or foods that make them feel better. Most of these foods are relatively high in fat and salt or sugar, meaning that stress may increase consumption of less healthy fatty, salty, or sweet foods. These effects can be traced at any of a number of levels, as in stress-related enhancement of metabolic rate, stress-related increases in physical activity or in time pressures and busy schedules that can increase consumption of fast or convenience foods. Enhanced metabolic demand during stress may increase consumption of food without necessarily affecting weight.

The literature on stress and eating behavior, weight gain, and obesity is complicated and focused most intently on acute stress-eating relationships (e.g. Greeno & Wing 1994). The relationship between stress and eating is complicated by personality or behavioral factors that qualify stress-related changes in food consumption, and thoughtful analysis of chronic stress and weight or diet changes have not been evaluated. Systematic examination of these and other possibilities will clarify the relationship between stress and diet and should help to design programs that more effectively manage weight and risk of disease.

150 BAUM & POSLUSZNY

Exercise

Exercise appears to be important as a means of managing weight, managing stress, and modifying the impact of stress- or other-induced disequilibrium. Regular exercise alters endocrine activity, circulatory function, muscle tone, and a number of other aspects of physical functioning. As a result, some risks for disease may be altered. Its influence on cardiovascular risk is well established and is not discussed here. Exercise is also very important in weight control and prevention of obesity. Some of the mechanisms linking exercise to these health outcomes have been identified, but many are not well characterized.

EXERCISE AND CANCER Results of several large population studies of cancer risk indicate that exercise decreases the relative risk of developing cancer (e.g. Francis 1996, Shepard 1993, Thune et al 1997). Sedentary activities appear to increase the risk for colon cancer (Shephard 1993), and evidence suggests that breast cancer and some reproductive cancers in women are negatively correlated with exercise history, although these findings are mixed (Bernstein et al 1994, Friedenreich & Rohan 1995, Kramer & Wells 1996, Mink et al 1996, Paffenbarger et al 1987, Thune et al 1997, Vena et al 1987). Adult weight gain also appears to contribute to risk for breast cancer (e.g. Huang et al 1997). Systematic evidence of links between exercise and cancer will await determination of the extent to which exercise suppresses risk factors, reduces stress, and/or increases the elasticity and adaptability of the organism.

STRESS AND EXERCISE Exercise has also received attention as a coping strategy or means of dealing with stress (e.g. Rostad & Long 1996, Perna et al 1997). Evidence of psychological benefits of exercise would suggest another layer of influence on health; in addition to fitness benefits, exercise may be related to mood and to perceived stress. Some studies support these possibilities, and many suggest that regular exercise has psychological and emotional benefits (Leith & Taylor 1990, Plante & Rodin 1990). For example, regular exercise appears to attenuate physiological reactivity to stressors in the laboratory (Anshel 1996, Holmes & Roth 1988). Mood effects and perceived control may also be associated with exercise and may help buffer stress. Ironically, this form of coping may be one of the first casualties of stress; although regular exercise may convey benefits, research suggests that stress reduces physical activity (Steptoe et al 1996).

Cigarette Smoking and Tobacco Use

Tobacco use is a primary cause of premature mortality and a modifiable risk for many debilitating or fatal diseases. Smoking tobacco, using snuff, and ingesting other smokeless tobacco have become pervasive around the world. The primary active ingredient in tobacco is nicotine, which has stimulant properties that appear to increase SNS arousal and alertness and to reduce appetite. Once tobacco use is established as a habit, it is highly resistant to change. Among tobacco users, the relief from withdrawal, appetite suppression, arousal, and sensation of well being associated with tobacco make it a very desirable behavior (Kassel 1997, Parrott et al 1996).

Smoking and other forms of tobacco use are major contributors to heart disease, hypertension, stroke, cancer, and several serious diseases of the lungs and airways. These effects are generated by a combination of constituents and smoke associated with smoking tobacco as well as by tobacco itself. Tobacco use also affects endocrine and immune system activity (e.g. Canals et al 1997, Mol et al 1993). Direct effects of tobacco use underlie its broad negative impact on health (e.g. Lykkesfeldt et al 1997). Passive exposure to tobacco smoke is also a problem, and research suggests that it has many effects consistent with exposure to nicotine (Hausberg et al 1997).

Because of the difficulty in getting people to stop using tobacco once they have started, considerable attention has been paid to prevention, particularly with children and adolescents (e.g. Chassin et al 1997). Risk factors for smoking vary by culture, but in the United States, adolescent cigarette smoking has been associated with perceived availability of cigarettes, cost, social models, social pressures, and mental health (Robinson et al 1997, Milberger et al 1997, Wang & Chou 1996, Unger et al 1997). The combination of social pressures and immediate reinforcers may induce people to try smoking when they do not intend to smoke (Engels et al 1997). Prevention efforts are most effective when continued for long periods (Eckhardt et al 1997), but a recent meta-analysis suggests that the average effect of social programs is small (Rooney & Murray 1996). Stress is one cause of tobacco use. Smoking and tobacco use appear to reduce stress or ameliorate its aversive effects (e.g. Viinamaki et al 1997, Todd et al 1996, Naquin & Gilbert 1996, Ogden & Mitandabari 1997). Smoking also alters acute stress responses. Smokers exhibit greater increases in peripheral resistence than nonsmokers during challenge (Girdler et al 1997). The synergistic effects of stress and smoking may heighten the negative effects of smoking and increase the incidence of tobacco-related illnesses (Maser 1997). Stress increases the amount and frequency of tobacco use (e.g. Steptoe et al 1996, Acierno et al 1996, Beckham et al 1996).

Stress also appears to be a major cause of relapse after cessation and often leads to resumption of smoking (Shiffman et al 1996, Matheny & Weatherman 1998). Newer approaches to cessation and relapse prevention hold some promise for success, appropriate motivation, and pharmacological adjuncts, while addressing individual level of addiction and recognition of barriers and supports (Lichtenstein & Glasgow 1997). Consideration of openness to change may also increase the efficacy of interventions by matching people to all appropriate intervention and fashioning changes in pre-contemplation behavior (e.g. Parrott et al 1996).

Sun Protection and Skin Cancer Prevention

Another behavior associated with serious health consequences is sun exposure. The majority of skin cancers are caused by exposure to ultraviolet (UV) radiation in sunlight. Cumulative lifetime exposure to sun is associated with basal-cell and squamous-cell cancers. More serious melanomas are more likely to be associated with intermittent but intense exposure (infrequent or periodic sunburn) (Albino et al 1997, Balch et al 1997). Use of sunscreens that block UV radiation or more prudent exposure (e.g. sitting in the shade, covering more of the body with clothing) should reduce or eliminate most skin cancers. Estimates range up to 78% of lifetime basal-cell and squamous-cell skin cancers that could be prevented by regular use of sunscreens rated at SPF 15 or greater during childhood and adolescence (Stern et al 1986).

Efforts have been made to increase knowledge about the risks of sun exposure and skin cancer, but the results have not been encouraging. Surveys suggest that fewer than half of sunbathers use sunscreen, and that of those who do, fewer than half use sunscreens that convey adequate protection (Bak et al 1992, Banks et al 1992). Educational interventions have increased awareness and knowledge of skin cancers, but there is little evidence of associated behavior change (Katz & Jernigan 1991, Mermelstein & Riesenberg 1992, Hughes et al 1993). Beliefs persist that tanning makes people look healthy and more attractive, that exposure to the sun is good for health, and that the risks of skin cancer are outweighed by these more immediate factors (e.g. Baum & Cohen 1998, Grob et al 1993, Maducdoc et al 1992, Miller et al 1990, Keesling & Friedman 1987). Some intensive intervention programs have produced evidence of short-term behavior change (Girgis et al 1993, Lombard et al 1991). However, long-term behavior change is usually not evaluated and there is little evidence that these programs achieve measurable reductions in skin cancer morbidity (Baum & Cohen 1998).

HEALTH BEHAVIOR

A third general mechanism linking behavior and health is the behavior that characterizes how people behave when they are ill, suspect they are ill, or learn they are at risk for serious illness. Early detection of disease is a critical element of health care because identification and treatment of early disease is usually more effective. Even more basic are prevention behaviors that help people manage modifiable risk for disease. Prevention behaviors include proper diet and exercise, cessation of smoking, and elimination of other health-impairing behaviors. Genetic risk testing programs for an increasing number of diseases reflect important public health advances and suggest immediate implications for health psychology (C Lerman 1998). Increasingly precise risk estimates of disease are attractive from a number of perspectives but also may have far-reaching psychological, social, and economic consequences that need to be studied (Baum et al 1997). Screening and surveillance have received a great deal of attention as means of early detection, and success in achieving good screening rates varies considerably. In general, there are a number of barriers to such behavior, including stress, social or support-related factors, and the perceived risk and emotional reaction to this perception (Rimer et al 1998).

Screening and Surveillance

Research has addressed screening and surveillance for many diseases and disease risks and has had some success in reducing cholesterol and blood pressure in people at risk for heart disease or hypertension (Heath et al 1995, Hoffmeister et al 1996). One of the most extensively studied diseases for which screening is important is breast cancer. Women are encouraged to have regular mammography and to perform monthly breast self-examination (American Cancer Society 1997), but many do not follow this recommendation. Socioeconomic factors, lack of physician support, perceptions of risk, and emotional reactions to the knowledge of being at risk appear to affect appropriate surveillance (e.g. Calle et al 1993, Fox et al 1991, Costanza et al 1992, Aiken et al 1994). Health beliefs are also associated with surveillance (e.g. Aiken et al 1994), but the focus of research has shifted from health beliefs to the emotional reaction that perceptions of risk may bring, including distress and worry about disease. Several studies suggest that women at higher risk for breast cancer experience heightened distress (e.g. Lerman et al 1994, Valdimarsdottir et al 1995, Gilbar 1997, Kash et al 1992). Women also report elevated anxiety about developing breast cancer and experience intrusive thoughts about their worries (e.g. Lerman et al 1993). Intrusive thoughts about breast cancer were also reported by women undergoing genetic counseling for breast cancer (Lloyd et al 1996). Some studies suggest that distress increases surveillance (e.g. McCaul et al 1996). Studies also suggest the opposite, that distress decreases surveillance activities (e.g. Kash et al 1992). Risk and distress have also been associated with overadherence to surveillance activities (e.g. Epstein et al 1997), but in some studies, distress is not related to surveillance at all (e.g. Sutton et al 1995).

A different kind of surveillance is testing for the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV). Testing for HIV indicates the presence of antibodies to the virus that can ultimately result in AIDS. The decision to undergo HIV screening is not universal, and many patients receive their first test near end-stage disease (Wortley et al 1995). In one study, almost half of the HIV patients indicated that they waited to be tested for a year or more after first suspecting that they were HIV-positive (Wenger et al 1994). Again, emotional responses may be implicated. Studies have linked AIDS-related anxiety to not getting screened (e.g. Wilson et al 1996), undergoing screening (Stehlow & Kampmann 1993), and failure to return for test results (Bell et al 1997). Other factors also affect decisions regarding HIV testing (Myers et al 1993), but stress and emotional responses may be major factors in this decision.

There have been several interventions to increase knowledge about HIV risk reduction and adoption of less risky behaviors. Some have been encouraging, achieving population-level reductions in rates of risky behavior (Kelly et al 1997). However, results are not always consistent; one study with women at risk has shown some success initially and at three-month follow-up (e.g. Carey et al 1997). Another intervention in men at risk failed to show maintenance of these changes (Kalichman et al 1997). Culturally targeted interventions were also successful (Kalichman et al 1993). Past behavior was often a better predictor of future behavior than was the counseling and negative test result (Ickovics et al 1994).

Adherence

Adherence refers to the extent to which people comply with medical advice or prescription for treatment or surveillance (Haynes et al 1979). Nonadherence is a major problem when treating patients or seeking to prevent or detect disease states early, in part because care providers rarely know whether patients are being compliant.

Nonadherence also complicates treatment by affecting outcomes and may lead to errors in subsequent diagnoses (Becker & Maiman 1980). Successful adherence involves remembering to do something, doing it properly, and being motivated to continue. Unintentional noncompliance reflects adherence problems that result from patients' inadequate understanding of the condition, treatment, or prevention regimen prescribed (e.g. Hussey & Gilliland 1989). Forgetting or misunderstanding instructions or explanations are major sources of adherence problems. Other kinds of noncompliance are more intentional and often indicate attempts to find an alternative treatment (Cameron 1996). Satisfaction, health beliefs, naive theories of illness, preferences for health care, and other factors influence adherence as well (Claydon & Efron 1994, Brownell & Cohen 1995, Morris & Schulz 1993). The costs and consequences of misdiagnosis or failure to detect readily treatable disease associated with noncompliance underscore the importance of this aspect of health behavior.

Research has sought to identify personality or demographic predictors of adherence. Identification of likely noncompliers, for example, would facilitate selective intervention and increase adherence. However, this effort has not produced robust predictors of compliance or of an "adherent style." The quality of provider-patient interaction and behavior of health care providers in these interactions is related to adherence (Cameron 1996). High-quality interactions, sensitivity to patient concerns, and other aspects of care provision predict better adherence (DiMatteo & DiNicola 1981). Supervision is related to better adherence as well, and increasing supervision of health behaviors or outcomes or reminders to comply are effective means of increasing competence (Haynes et al 1976, Schapira et al 1992). Social support and health beliefs also affect willingness to comply and may influence the extent and accuracy of the understanding of a recommendation, health threat, or health communication (Cameron 1996). Stress interferes with adherence by increasing memory problems, decreasing satisfaction, or altering receptiveness and capacity to adjust to treatment demands (e.g. Brickman et al 1996).

CONCLUSIONS

Research increasingly suggests a strong link between how people think, feel, and behave and how well they withstand illness and poor health. Stress provides one model for understanding and predicting the impact of more specific emotional arousal and distress. The unique interactions of nonspecific stress responses and more specific emotional changes associated with anger, sadness, uncertainty, or other psychological states are not known. However, the behavioral implications of mood are well recognized and behaviors tied to these states, including self-medication with food, alcohol, or drugs, are important aspects of health. Interest has gradually shifted from confirmation of links between psychosocial or behavioral factors and health outcomes to investigation of mechanisms by which health benefits or harm are conveyed. Whether the negative influences of emotional arousal, health-impairing behaviors, and ineffective or disrupted illness behaviors can be managed or minimized is a major question that will be addressed next, and the continued integration of this knowledge into health care practice and prevention/treatment of disease should contribute to better medical outcomes. Stress management, enhanced coping, and reduction of modifiable risk for disease associated with harmful behaviors have already been targeted. A broad approach-one that considers these factors in the context of genetic variables, environmental constraints, and health-protective resources and behaviors- seems most likely to succeed.

Visit the Annual Reviews home page at http://www.AnnualReviews.org.

Literature Cited

- Acierno R, Kilpatrick DG, Resnick HS, Saunders BE. 1996. Violent assault, posttraumatic stress disorder, and depression: risk factors for cigarette use among adult women. *Behav. Modif.* 20(4): 363–84
- Aiken LS, West SG, Woodward CK, Reno RR. 1994. Health beliefs and compliance with mammography-screening recommendations in asymptomatic women. *Health Psychol.* 12:122–29
- Albino A, Reed JA, McNutt NS. 1997. Molecular biology of cutaneous malignant melanoma. Malignant melanoma. In *Cancer Principles and Practice of Oncology*, ed. V DeVita, S Hellman, SA Rosenberg, pp. 1935–46. New York: Lippincott-Raven. 5th ed.
- Aloe L, Bracci-Laudiero L, Bonini S, Manni L. 1997. The expanding role of nerve growth factor: from neurotrophic activity to immunologic diseases. *Allergy* 52(9): 883–94
- American Cancer Society. 1997. Cancer Facts and Figures. New York: Am. Cancer Soc.
- Andersen BL, Farrar WB, Golden-Kreutz D, Kutz LA, MacCallum R, et al. 1998. Stress and immune responses after surgical treatment for regional breast cancer. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 90(1):30–36
- Andersen BL, Kiecolt-Glaser JK, Glaser R. 1994. A biobehavioral model of cancer stress and disease course. *Am. Psychol.* 49(5):389–404
- Anshel M. 1996. Coping styles among adolescent competitive athletes. J. Soc. Psychol. 136(3):311–23
- Antoni MH. 1997. Cognitive-behavioral intervention for persons with HIV. In Group Therapy for Medically Ill Patients, ed. JL Spira, pp. 55–91. New York: Guilford
- Antoni MH, Schneiderman N, Esterling B, Ironson G. 1994. Stress management and adjustment to HIV-1 infection. *Homeost. Health Dis.* 35(3):149–60
- Atwood JR, Aickin M, Giordana L, Benedict J, Bell M, et al. 1992. The effectiveness of adherence intervention in a colon cancer prevention field trial. *Prev. Med.* 21(5): 637–53
- Bachen EA, Manuck SB, Cohen S, Muldoon MF. 1995. Adrenergic blockade ameliorates cellular immune responses to mental stress in humans. *Psychosom. Med.* 57(4): 366–72
- Bak S, Koh HK, Howland J, Mangiove T, Hingson R, Levenson S. 1992. Sunbathing habits and sunscreen use in 2485 Caucasian adults: results of a national survey. In

Progr. Abstr. Am. Public Health Assoc. Meet., Washington, DC, Session 2052, pp. XX—XXX

- Balch CM, Reintgen DS, Kirkwood JM, Houghton A, Peters L, Ango KK. 1997. Cutaneous melanoma. Malignant melanoma. In *Cancer Principles and Practice* of Oncology, ed. V DeVita, S Hellman, SA Rosenberg, pp. 1947–94. New York: Lippincott-Raven. 5th ed.
- Banks BA, Silverman RA, Schwartz RH, Tunnessen WW. 1992. Attitudes of teenagers toward sun exposure and sunscreen use. *Pediatrics* 89:40–42
- Barry TA, Wassenaar DR. 1996. An investigation into the relationship between coronary risk factors and coronary heart disease among the Pietermaritzburg Asian population. South Afr. J. Psychol. 26(1):29–34
- Baum A. 1990. Stress, intrusive imagery, and chronic distress. *Health Psychol.* 9(6): 653–75
- Baum A, Cohen L. 1998. Successful behavioral interventions to prevent cancer: the example of skin cancer. Annu. Rev. Publ. Health 19:319–33
- Baum A, Friedman AL, Zakowski SG. 1997. Stress and genetic testing for disease risk. *Health Psychol.* 16 (1):8–19
- Baum A, Herberman H, Cohen L. 1995. Managing stress and managing illness: survival and quality of life in chronic disease. J. Clin. Psychol. Med. Settings 2(4):309–33
- Baum A, Nesselhof SE. 1988. Psychological research and the prevention, etiology, and treatment of AIDS. *Am. Psychol.* 43(11): 900–6
- Becker MH, Maiman LA. 1980. Strategies for enhancing patient compliance. J. Commun. Health 6(2):113–35
- Beckham JC, Lytle BL, Vrana SR, Hertzberg MA, Feldman ME, Shipley RH. 1996. Smoking withdrawal symptoms in response to a trauma-related stressor among Vietnam combat veterans with posttraumatic stress disorder. *Addict. Behav.* 21(1):93–101
- Bell R, Molitor F, Flynn N. 1997. On returning for one's HIV testing result: demographic, behavioral and psychological predictors. *AIDS* 11:263–64
- Bernstein L, Henderson BE, Hanisch R, Sullivan-Halley J, Ross RK. 1994. Physical exercise and reduced risk of breast cancer in young women. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 86(18):1403–8
- Besedovsky HO, DelRey A. 1991. Feed-back interactions between immunological cells

and the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis. Neth. J. Med. 39(3-4):274-80

- Brickman AL, Yount SE, Blaney NT, Rothberg ST, De-Nour AK. 1996. Personality traits and long-term health status. The influence of neuroticism and conscientiousness on renal deterioration in type-I diabetes. *Psychosomatics* 37(5):459–68
- Brownell KD, Cohen LR. 1995. Adherence to dietary regimens. 2: Components of effective interventions. *Behav. Med.* 20(4): 155–64
- Calle EE, Flanders WD, Thun MJ, Martin LM. 1993. Demographic predictors of mammography and pap smear screening in US women. Am. J. Public Health 83:53–60
- Cameron C. 1996. Patient compliance: recognition of factors involved and suggestions for promoting compliance with therapeutic regimens. J. Adv. Nurs. 24(2):244–50
- Canals J, Colomina MT, Domingo JL, Domenech E. 1997. Influence of smoking and drinking habits on salivary cortisol levels. *Pers. Indiv. Differ.* 23(4):593–99
- Cannon WB. 1929. Bodily Changes in Pain, Hunger, Fear, and Rage. Boston: Branford
- Carey MP, Kalichman SC, Forsyth AD, Wright EM. 1997. Enhancing motivation to reduce the risk of HIV infection for economically disadvantaged urban women. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 65(4):531–41
- Carney RM, Mcmahon P, Freedland KE, Becker L, Krantz DS, et al. 1998. Reproducibility of mental stress-induced myocardial ischemia in the psychophysiological investigations of myocardial ischemia (PIMI). *Psychosom. Med.* 60(1):64– 70
- Catalan J, Burgess A, Pergami A, Hulme N, Gazzard B, Phillips R. 1996. The psychological impact on staff of caring for people with serious diseases: the case of HIV infection and oncology. J. Psychosom. Res. 40(4):425–35
- Chandra PS, Ravi V, Puttaram S, Desai A. 1996. HIV and mental illness. Br. J. Psychiatry 168(5):654
- Chassin L, Barrera M Jr, Montgomery H. 1997. Parental alcoholism as a risk factor. In Handbook of Children's Coping: Linking Theory and Intervention. Issues in Clinical Child Psychology, ed. SA Wolchik, IN Sandler, pp. 101–29. New York: Plenum
- Claydon BE, Efron M. 1994. Non-compliance in general health care. *Ophthalmic Physiol. Opt.* 14(3):257–64
 Cohen S, Rabin BS. 1998. Psychological
- Cohen S, Rabin BS. 1998. Psychological stress, immunity, and cancer. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 90(1):3–4
- Cohen S, Rodriguez MS. 1996. Pathways link-

ing affective disturbances and physical disorders. *Health Psychol.* 14(5):374–80

- Cohen S. Tyrrell DAJ, Smith AP. 1991. Psychological stress and susceptibility to the common cold. N. Engl. J. Med. 325: 606–12
- Cohen S, Williamson GM. 1991. Stress and infectious disease in humans. *Psychol. Bull.* 109(1):5–24
- Cole SW, Kemeny ME, Taylor SE, Visscher BR. 1996. Elevated physical health risk among gay men who conceal their homosexual identify. *Health Psychol.* 15(4): 243–51
- Costanza M, Stoddard A, Gaw V, Zapka J. 1992. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 40:774–78
- Delahanty DL, Dougall AL, Hawken L, Trakowski JH, Schmitz JB. 1996. Time course of natural killer cell activity and lymphocyte proliferation in response to two acute stressors in healthy men. *Health Psychol*. 15(1): 48–55
- DiMatteo MR, DiNicola DD. 1981. Sources of assessment of physician performance: a study of comparative reliability and patterns of intercorrelation. *Med. Care* 19(8): 829–42
- Dingle GA, Oei TPS. 1997. Is alcohol a cofactor of HIV and AIDS? Evidence from immunological and behavioral studies. *Psychol. Bull.* 122(1):56–71
- Domel SB, Baranowski T, Davis H, Leonard SB, Riley P, et al. 1993. Measuring fruit and vegetable preferences among 4th–5th grade students. *Prev. Med.* 22(6):866–79
- Eckhardt L, Woodruff SI, Elder JP. 1997. Relative effectiveness of continued, lapsed, and delayed smoking prevention intervention in senior high school students. *Am. J. Health Promot.* 11(6):418–21
- Engels R, Knibbe RA, Drop MJ, Dehaan YT. 1997. Homogeneity of cigarette smoking within peer groups—influence or selection? *Health Educ. Behav.* 256:801–11
- Epstein SA, Lin TH, Audrain J, Stefanek M, Rimer B, et al. 1997. Excessive breast selfexamination among first-degree relatives of newly diagnosed breast cancer patients. High-risk breast cancer consortium. *Psychosomatics* 38(3):253–61
- Evans DL, Leserman J, Perkins DO, Stern RA, Murphy C. 1997. Severe life stress as a predictor of early disease progression in HIV infection. Am. J. Psychiatry 154(5): 630–34
- Fawzy FI, Fawzy NW. 1994. A structured psychoeducational intervention for cancer patients. *Gen. Hosp. Psychiatry* 16(3): 149–92
- Fishbein M, Triandis HC, Kanfer FH, Becker M, Middlestadt SE, Eichler A. 1998. Fac-

tors influencing behavior and behavior change. Handb. Health Psychol. In press

- Fitzgibbon ML, Stolley MR, Avellone ME, Sugerman S, Chavez N. 1996. Involving parents in cancer risk reduction: a program for Hispanic American families. *Health Psychol.* 15(6):413–22
- Folkman S. 1997. Introduction to the special section: use of bereavement narratives to predict well-being in gay men whose partner died of AIDS—four theoretical perspectives. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 72(4): 851–54
- Folkman S, Moskowitz JT, Oer EM, Park CL. 1997. Positive meaningful events and coping in the context of HIV/AIDS. In Coping with Chronic Stress. The Plenum Series on Stress and Coping, ed. BH Gottlieb, pp. 293–314. New York: Plenum
- Fox SA, Murata PJ, Stein JA. 1991. The impact of physician compliance on screening mammography for older women. *Arch. Intern. Med.* 151(1):50–56
- Francis K. 1996. Physical activity: breast and reproductive cancer. *Compr. Ther.* 22(2): 94–99
- Friedenreich CM, Rohan TE. 1995. A review of physical activity and breast cancer. *Epidemiology* 6(3):333–17
- Gilbar O. 1997. Women with high risk for breast cancer: psychological symptoms. *Psychol. Rep.* 80:800–2
- Girdler SS, Jamner LD, Jarvik M, Soles JR, Shapiro D. 1997. Smoking status and nicotine administration differentially modify hemodynamic stress reactivity in men and women. *Psychosom. Med.* 59(3): 294–306
- Girgis A, Sanson-Fisher RW, Tripodi DA, Golding T. 1993. Evaluation of interventions to improve protection in primary schools. *Health Educ. Q.* 20:275–87
- Golay A, Bobbioni E. 1997. The role of dietary fat in obesity. Int. J. Obes. Rel. Metab. Disord. 21(Suppl. 3):S2–11
- Goodkin K, Burkhalter JE, Blaney NT, Leeds B, Tuttle R, Feaster D. 1997. A research derived bereavement support group technique for the HIV-1 infected. *Omega J. Death Dying* 34(4): 279–300
- Goujon E, Laye S, Parnet P, Dantzer R. 1997. Regulation of cytokine gene expression in the central nervous system by glucocorticoids: mechanisms and functional consequences. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 22 (Suppl. 1):S75–80
- Greeno CG, Wing RR. 1994. Stress-induced eating. *Psychol. Bull.* 115(3):444–64
- Grob JJ, Guglielmena C, Gouvernet J, Zarour H, Noe C, Bonerandi JJ. 1993. Study of sunbathing habits in children and adoles-

cents: application to the prevention of melanoma. *Dermatology* 186:94–98

- Hausberg M, Mark AL, Winniford MD, Brown RE, Somers VK. 1997. Sympathetic and vascular effects of short-term passive smoke exposure in healthy nonsmokers. *Circulation* 96(1):282–87
- Haynes RB, Sackett DL, Gobson ES, Taylor DW, Hackett BC, et al. 1976. Improvement of medication compliance in uncontrolled hypertension. *Lancet* 1:1265–68
- Haynes RB, Taylor DW, Sackett DL. 1979. Compliance In Health Care. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins Univ. Press
- Heath GW, Fuchs R, Croft JB, Temple SP, Wheller FC. 1995. Changes in blood cholesterol awareness: final results from the South Carolina Cardiovascular Disease Prevention Project. Am. J. Prev. Med. 11(3):190–96
- Heber D, Ashley JM, McCarthy WJ, Solares ME, Leaf DA, et al. 1992. Assessment of adherence to a low-fat diet for breast cancer prevention. *Prev. Med.* 21(2):218–27
- Helgeson VS, Cohen S. 1996. Social support and adjustment to cancer: reconciling descriptive, correlation, and intervention research. *Health Psychol.* 15(2):135–48
- Helgeson VS, Cohen S, Fritz H. 1998. Social ties and the onset and progression of cancer. In *Psycho-oncology*, ed. J Holland. New York: Oxford Univ. Press. In press
- Helmers KF, Krantz DS. 1996. Defensive hostility, gender and cardiovascular levels and responses to stress. Ann. Behav. Med. 18(4):246–54
- Herbert TB, Cohen S. 1993. Stress and immunity in humans: a meta-analytic review. *Psychosom. Med.* 55(4):364–79
- Hoff RA, Beam-Goulet J, Rosenheck RA. 1997. Mental disorder as a risk factor for human immunodeficiency virus infection in a sample of veterans. J. Nerv. Mental Dis. 185(9):556–60
- Hoffmeister H, Mensink GBM, Stolzenberg H, Hoeltz J, Kreuter H, et al. 1996. Reduction of coronary heart disease risk factors in the German Cardiovascular Prevention study. *Prev. Med.* 25(2):135–45
- Holm LE, Nordevang E, Hjalmar ML, Lidbrink E, Callmer E, et al. 1993. Treatment failure and dietary habits in women with breast cancer. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 85(1): 32–36
- Holmes DS, Roth DL. 1988. Effects of aerobic exercise training and relaxation training on cardiovascular activity during psychological stress. J. Psychosom. Res. 32(4–5): 469–74
- Howes JB, Ryan J, Fairbrother G, O'Neill K, Howes LG. 1997. Alcohol consumption

and blood pressure in recently hospitalized patients. *Blood Press.* 6(2):109–11

- Huang Z, Hankinson SE, Colditz GA, Stampfer MJ, Hunter DJ, et al. 1997. Dual effects of weight and weight gain on breast cancer risk. J. Am. Med. Soc. 278(17): 1407–11
- Hughes BR, Altman DG, Newton JA. 1993. Melanoma and skin cancer: evaluation of a health education program for secondary schools. Br. J. Dermatol. 128:412–17
- Hussey LC, Gilliland K. 1989. Compliance: low literacy, and locus of control. *Nurs. Clin. N. Am.* 24(3):605–11
- Ickovics JR, Morrill AC, Beren SE, Walsh U, Rodin J. 1994. Limited effects of HIV counseling and testing for women: a prospective study of behavioral and psychological consequences. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 272(6): 443–48
- Jenkins FJ, Baum A. 1995. Stress and reactivation of latent herpes simplx virus: a fusion of behavioral medicine and molecular biology. Ann. Behav. Med. 17(2): 116–23
- Jennings JR, Kamarck T, Manuck S, Everson SA, Kaplan GA, Salonen JF. 1997. Aging or disease? Cardiovascular reactivity in Finnish men over the middle years. *Psychol. Aging* 12(2): 225–38
- Johnston DW. 1997. Cardiovascular disease. In Science and Practice of Cognitive Behavior Therapy, ed. D Clark, C Fairburn, pp. 341–58. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Kalichman SC, Kelly JA, Hunter TL, Murphy DA, Tyler R. 1993. Culturally tailored HIV- AIDS risk-reduction messages targeted to African American urban women: impact on risk sensitization and risk reduction. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 61(2): 291–95
- Kalichman SC, Kelly JA, Rompa D. 1997. Continued high-risk sex among HIV seropositive gay and bisexual men seeking HIV prevention services. *Health Psychol*. 16(4):369–73
- Kash KM, Holland JC, Halper MS, Miller DG. 1992. Psychological distress and surveillance behaviors of women with a family history of breast cancer. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 84:24–30
- Kassel JD. 1997. Smoking and attention: a review and reformulation of the stimulusfilter hypothesis. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 17(5):451–78
- Katz ŘĆ, Jernigan S. 1991. Brief report: an empirically derived educational program for detecting and preventing skin cancer. J. Behav. Med. 14:421–27

Keesling B, Friedman HS. 1987. Psychosocial

factors in sunbathing and sunscreen use. *Health Psychol.* 6:477–93

- Kelly JA, Murphy DA, Sikkema KJ, McAuliffe TL, Roffman RA, et al. 1997. Randomized, controlled, community-level HIVprevention intervention for sexual-risk behavior among homosexual men in US cities. *Lancet* 350:1500–5
- Kiecolt-Glaser JK, Malarkey WB, Cacioppo JT, Glaser R. 1994. Stressful personal relationships: immune and endocrine factors. In *Handbook of Human Stress and Immunity*, ed. R Glaser, JK Kiecolt-Glaser, pp. 321–40. San Diego, CA: Academic
- Kiecolt-Glaser JK, Štephens RE, Lipetz PD, Speicher CE, Glaser R. 1985. Distress and DNA repair in human lymphocytes. J. Behav. Med. 8(4):311–20
- Kramer MM, Wells CL. 1996. Does physical activity reduce risk of estrogen-dependent cancer in women? *Med. Sci. Sports Exercise* 28(3):322–34
- Krantz DS, Grunberg NE, Baum A. 1985. Health psychology. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 36:349–83
- Krantz DS, Manuck SB. 1984. Acute psychophysiologic reactivity and risk of cardiovascular disease: a review and methodologic critique. *Psychol. Bull.* 96(3): 435–64
- Ku DN. 1997. Blood flow in arteries. Annu. Rev. Fluid Mech. 29:399–434
- LaPerriere A, Ironson G, Antoni MH, Schneiderman N. 1994. Exercise and psychoneuroimmunology. *Med. Sci. Sports Exercise* 26(2):182–90
- Lazarus RS. 1966. *Psychological Stress and* the Coping Process. New York: McGraw-Hill
- Lazarus RS, Folkman S. 1984. Stress, Appraisal, and Coping. New York: Springer
- LeDoux JE. 1996. The emotional brain: the mysterious underpinnings of emotional life. In *The Emotional Brain: The Mysteri*ous Underpinnings of Emotional Life. New York: Simon & Schuster
- Leith LM, Taylor AH. 1990. Psychological aspects of exercise: a decade literature review. J. Sport Behav. 13(4):219–39
- Lerman C. 1998. Psychological aspects of genetic testing for cancer susceptibility. In *Technology and Methodology in Behavioral Medicine*, ed. DS Krantz, A Baum. In press
- Lerman C, Daly M, Sands C, Balshem A, Lustbader E, et al. 1993. Mammography adherence and psychological distress among women at risk for breast cancer. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 85:1074–80
- Lerman C, Kash K, Stefanek M. 1994. Younger women at increased risk for

breast cancer: perceived risk, psychological well-being, and surveillance behavior. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst. Monogr.* 16:171–76

- Leserman J, Petitto JM, Perkins DO, Folds JD, Golden RN, et al. 1997. Severe stress, depressive symptoms, and changes in lymphocyte subsets in human immunodeficiency virus-infected men. A 2-year follow-up study. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 54(3):279–85
- Lester N, Smart L, Baum A. 1994. Measuring coping flexibility. *Psychol. Health* 9(6): 409–24
- Levy SM, Herberman RB, Lippman M, D'Angelo T, Lee J. 1991. Immunological and psychosocial predictors of disease recurrence in patients with early-stage breast cancer. *Behav. Med.* 17(2):67–75
- Lichtenstein E, Glasgow RE. 1997. A pragmatic framework for smoking cessation: implications for clinical and public health programs. *Psychol. Addict. Behav.* 11(2): 142–51
- Littrell J. 1996. How psychological states affect the immune system: implications for interventions in the context of HIV. *Health Soc. Work* 21(4):287–95
- Lloyd S, Watson M, Waites B, Meyer L, Eeles R, et al. 1996. Familial breast cancer: a controlled study of risk perception, psychological morbidity and health beliefs in women attending for genetic counseling. *Br. J. Cancer* 74:482–87
- Lombard D, Neubauer TE, Canfield D, Winett RA. 1991. Behavioral community intervention to reduce the risk of skin cancer. J. Appl. Behav. Anal. 24:677–87
- Longcope C, Gorbach S, Goldin B, Woods M, Dwyer J, et al. 1987. The effect of a low fat diet on estrogen metabolism. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 64(6):1246–50
- Lykkesfeldt J, Loft S, Nielsen JB, Poulsen HE. 1997. Ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid as biomarkers of oxidative stress caused by smoking. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 64(4):959–63
- Maducdoc JR, Wagner RF, Wagner KD. 1992. Parents use of sunscreen on beach going children. Arch. Dermatol. 128:628–29
- Maier SF, Watkins LR. 1998. Cytokines for psychologists-implications of bidirectional immune-to-brain communication for understanding behavior, mood, and cognition. *Psychol. Rev.* 105(1):83–107
- Manuck SB, Cohen S, Rabin BS, Muldoon MF, Bachen EA. 1991. Individual differences in cellular immune response to stress. *Psychol. Sci.* 2(2):111–15
- Manuck SB, Kaplan JR, Adams MR, Clarkson TB. 1989. Behaviorally elicited heart rate reactivity and atherosclerosis in female cy-

nomolgus monkeys. *Psychosom. Med.* 51(3):306–18

- Manuck SB, Krantz DS. 1984. Psychophysiologic reactivity in coronary heart disease. *Behav. Med. Upd.* 6(3):11–15
- Maser E. 1997. Stress, hormonal changes, alcohol, food constituents and drugs-factors that advance the incidence of tobacco smoke-related cancer. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 18(8):270–75
- Mason JW. 1975. A historical view of the stress field. J. Hum. Stress 1:22-36
- Matheny KB, Weatherman KE. 1998. Predictors of smoking cessation and maintenance. J. Clin. Psychol. 54(2):223–35
- Matthews KA, Woodall KL, Allen MT. 1993. Cardiovascualr reactivity to stress predits future blood pressure status. *Hypertension* 22(4):479–85
- Matthews KA, Woodall KL, Stoney CM. 1990. Changes in and stability of cardiovascular responses to behavioral stress: results from a four-year longitudinal study of children. *Child Dev.* 61(4):1134–44
- McCaul K, Schroeder D, Reid P. 1996. Breast cancer worry and screening: some prospective data. *Health Psychol.* 15:430–33
- McFetridge JA, Yarandi HN. 1997. Cardiovascular function during cognitive stress in men before and after coronary artery bypass grafts. *Nurs. Res.* 46(4):188–94
- Mermelstein RJ, Riesenberg LA. 1992. Changing knowledge and attitudes about skin cancer risk factors in adolescents. *Health Psychol.* 11:371–76
- Metz JA, Kris-Etherton PM, Morris CD, Mustad VA, Stern JS, et al. 1997. Dietary compliance and cardiovascular risk reduction with a prepared meal plan compared with a self-selected diet. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 66(2):373–85
- Meyer TJ, Mark MM. 1995. Effects of psychological interventions with adult cancer patients: a meta-analysis of randomized experiments. *Health Psychol.* 14(2):101–8
- Meyskens FL Jr, Thomson SP, Moon TE. 1985. Similar self-renewal properties for different sizes of human primary melanoma colonies replated in agar. *Cancer Res.* 45(3):1101–7
- Milberger S, Biederman J, Faraone SV, Chen L, Jones J. 1997. Further evidence of an association between attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and cigarette smoking: findings from a high-risk sample of siblings. Am. J. Addict. 6(3):205–17
- Miller AG, Ashton WA, McHoskey JW, Gimbel J. 1990. What price attractiveness? Stereotypes and risk factors in suntanning behavior. J. Appl. Soc. Psychol. 20: 1272–300

- Miller SB, Freise M, Dolgoy L, Sita A, Lavoie K, et al. 1998. Hostility, sodium consumption, and cardiovascular response to interpersonal stress. *Psychosom. Med.* 60(1): 71–77
- Mink PJ, Folsom AR, Sellers TA, Kushi LH. 1996. Physical activity, waist-to-hip ratio, and other risk factors for ovarian cancer: a follow-up study of older women. *Epidemi*ology 7(1):38–45
- Mol MJ, Demacker PN, Stalenhof AF. 1993. The role of modification of lipoproteins and of the immune system in early atherogenesis. *Neth. J. Med.* 43(1–2):83–90
- Morris LS, Schulz RM. 1993. Medication compliance: the patient's perspective. *Clin. Therapeut.* 15(3):593–606
- Mosca L, Rubenfire M, Mandel C, Rock C, Tarshis T, et al. 1997. Antioxidant nutrient supplementation reduces the susceptibility of low density lipoprotein to oxidation in patients with coronary artery disease. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 30(2):392–99
- Moynihan JA, Ader R. 1996. Psychoneuroimmunology: animal models of disease. Psychosom. Med. 58(6):546–58
- Muller N, Ackenheil M. 1998. Psychoneuroimmunology and the cytokine action in the CNS-implications for psychiatric disorders. Progr. Neuro-Psychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 22(1):1–33
- Myers T, Orr K, Locker D, Jackson E. 1993. Factors affecting gay and bisexual men's decisions and intentions to seek HIV testing. Am. J. Public Health 83:701–4
- Naquin MR, Gilbert GG. 1996. College students' smoking behavior, perceived stress, and coping styles. J. Drug Educ. 26(4): 367–76
- Negri E, LaVecchia C, Franceschi S, D'Avanzo B, Talamini R, et al. 1996. Intake of selected micronutrients and the risk of breast cancer. *Int. J. Cancer* 65(2):140–44
- Niebauer J, Cooke JP. 1996. Cardiovascular effects of exercise: role of endothelial shear stress. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 28(7): 1652–60
- Niedhammer I, Goldberg M, Leclerc A, David S, Landre MF. 1998. Psychosocial work environment and cardiovascular risk factors in an occupational cohort in France. J. Epidemiol. Commun. Health 52(2): 93–100
- Nieman DC. 1997. Immune response to heavy exertion. J. Appl. Physiol. 82(5):1385–94
- Nordevang E, Azavedo E, Svane G, Nilsson B, Holm LE. 1993. Dietary habits and mammographic patterns in patients with breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 26(3): 207–15
- Ogden J, Mitandabari T. 1997. Examination

stress and changes in mood and health related behaviors. *Psychol. Health* 12(2): 288–99

- O'Keeffe MK, Nesselhof-Kendall S, Baum A. 1990. Behavior and prevention of AIDS: bases of research and intervention. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 16(1):166–80 (Spec. issue)
- O'Leary A, Jemmott LS. 1996. Women and AIDS: coping and care. In *AIDS Prevention and Mental Health*, ed. A O'Leary, LS Jemmott. New York: Plenum
- Paffenbarger RS Jr, Hyde RT, Wing AL. 1987. Physical activity and incidence of cancer in diverse populations: a preliminary report. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 45(1):312–17 (Suppl.)
- Pariante CM, Carpiniello B, Orru MG, Sitzia R, Piras A, et al. 1997. Chronic caregiving stress alters peripheral blood immune parameters—the role of age and severity of stress. *Psychother. Psychosom.* 66(4): 199–207
- Park CL, Folkman S. 1997. Stability and change in psychosocial resources during caregiving and bereavement in partners of men with AIDS. J. Pers. 65(2):421–47
- Parrott AC, Garnham NJ, Wesnes K, Pincock C. 1996. Cigarette smoking and abstinence: comparative effects upon cognitive task performance and mood state over 24 hours. *Hum. Psychopharmacol.* 11(5): 391–400
- Path G, Bornstein SR, Ehrhart-Bornstein M, Scherbaum WA. 1997. Interleukin-6 and the interleukin-6 receptor in the human adrenal gland: expression and effects on steroidogenesis. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metabol. 82(7):2343–49
- Patterson RE, Kristal AR, White E. 1996. Do beliefs, knowledge, and perceived norms about diet and cancer predict dietary change? Am. J. Public Health 86(10): 1394–400
- Patterson SM, Matthews KA, Allen MT, Owens JF. 1995. Stress-induced hemoconcentration of blood cells and lipids in healthy women during acute psychological stress. *Health Psychol.* 14(4):319–24
- Patterson SM, Zakowski SG, Hall M, Cohen L, Wollman K, Baum A. 1994. Psychological stress and platelet activation: differences in platelet reactivity in healthy men during active and passive stressors. *Health Psychol.* 13(1):34–38
- Perna FM, Schneiderman N, LaPerriere A. 1997. Psychological stress, exercise and immunity. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 18(1): S78–83 (Suppl.)
- Pickering TG, Gerin W. 1990. Cardiovascular reactivity in the laboratory and the role of

behavioral factors in hypertension. Ann. Behav. Med. 12:3-16

- Plante TG, Rodin J. 1990. Physical fitness and enhanced psychological health. *Curr. Psychol. Res. Rev.* 9(1):3–24
 Pomeroy EC, Rubin A, Van Laningham L,
- Pomeroy EC, Rubin A, Van Laningham L, Walker RJ. 1997. "Straight talk": the effectiveness of a psychoeducational group intervention for heterosexuals with HIV/AIDS. Res. Soc. Work Pract. 7(2):149–64
- Pool PE. 1997. The clinical significance of neurohormonal activation. *Clin. Ther.* 19(Suppl. A):53–73
- Posluszny DM, Hyman KB, Baum A. 1998. Group intervention in cancer: the benefits of social support and education on patient adjustment. In *Theory and Research on Small Groups*, ed. RS Tindaleat. New York: Plenum
- Ramirez AJ, Craig TKJ, Watson JP, Fentiman IS, North WR, et al. 1989. Stress and relapse of breast cancer. *Br. Med. J.* 298: 291–93
- Rimer BK, McBride CM, Crump C. 1998. Women's health promotion. *Handb. Health Psychol.* In press
- Robins AG, Dew MA, Kingsley LA, Becker JT. 1997. Do homosexual and bisexual men who place others at potential risk for HIV have unique psychosocial profiles? *AIDS Educ. Prev.* 9(3):239–51
- Robinson LA, Klesges RC, Zbikowski SM, Glaser R. 1997. Predictors of risk for different stages of adolescent smoking in a biracial sample. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 65(4):653–62
- Rooney BL, Murray DM. 1996. A metaanalysis of smoking prevention programs after adjustment for errors in the unit of analysis. *Health Educ. Q.* 23(1):48–64
- Rostad FG, Long BC. 1996. Exercise as a coping strategy for stress: a review. Int. J. Sport Psychol. 27(2):197–222
- Santagostino G, Amoretti G, Frattini P, Zerbi F, Cucchi ML, et al. 1996. Catecholaminergic, neuroendocrine and anxiety responses to acute psychological stress in healthy subjects: influence of alprazolam administration. *Neuropsychobiology* 34(1):36–43
- Schapira DV, Kumar NB, Clark RA, Yag C. 1992. Mammography screening credit card and compliance. *Cancer* 70(2): 509–12
- Schapira DV, Kumar NB, Lyman GH, Baile WF. 1991. The effect of duration of intervention and locus of control on dietary change. Am. J. Prev. Med. 7(6):341–47
- Schedlowski M, Fluge T, Richter S, Tewes U, Schmidt RE, et al. 1995. Beta-endorphin,

but not substance-P, is increased by acute stress in humans. *Psychoneuroendocrinol*ogy 20(1):103–10

- Scheier MF, Carver CS. 1992. Effects of optimism on psycholoigcal and physical wellbeing: theoretical overview and empirical update. Cogn. Ther. Res. 16:201–28
- Schneiderman N. 1983. Animal behavior models of coronary heart disease. In *Handbook of Psychology and Health*, Vol. 3 *Cardiovascular Disorders and Behavior*, ed. DS Krantz, A Baum, JE Singer. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum
- Schneiderman N, Antoni MH, Ironson G, La-Perriere A. 1992. Applied psychological science and HIV-1 spectrum disease. *Appl. Prev. Psychol.* 1(2):67–82
- Selye H. 1976. *The Stress of Life*. New York: McGraw-Hill
- Shephard RJ. 1993. Exercise in the prevention and treatment of cancer: an update. Sports Med. 15(4):258–80
- Shiffman S, Hickcox M, Paty JA, Gnys M, Kassel JD, Richards T. 1996. Progression from a smoking lapse to relapse: prediction from abstinence violation effects, nicotine dependence, and lapse characteristics. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 64(5):993–1002
- Spiegel D, Bloom J, Kraemer H, Gottheil E. 1989. Effect of psychosocial treatment on survival of patients with metastatic breast cancer. *Lancet* 2:888–91
- Stehlow U, Kampmann G. 1993. AIDS anxieties of adolescents: determinants of "state" and "trait" anxiety. J. Adolesc. Health 14: 475–84
- Steptoe A, Wardle J, Pollard TM, Canaan L. 1996. Stress, social support and healthrelated behavior: a study of smoking, alcohol consumption and physical exercise. J. Psychosom. Res. 41(2):171–80
- Stern RS, Weinstein MD, Baker SG. 1986. Risk reduction for nonmelanoma skin cancer with childhood sunscreen use. Arch. Dermatol. 122(5):537–45
- Stolley MR, Fitzgibbon ML. 1997. Effects of an obesity prevention program on the eating behavior of African American mothers and daughters. *Health Educ. Behav.* 24(2): 152–64
- Sutton S, Saidi G, Bickler G, Hunter J. 1995. J. Epidemiol. Commun. Health 49:413–18
- Testa M, Collins RL. 1997. Alcohol and risky sexual behavior: event-based analyses among a sample of high-risk women. *Psychol. Addict. Behav.* 11(3):190–201
- Thune I, Brenn T, Lund E, Gaard M. 1997. Physicial activity and the risk of breast cancer. N. Engl. J. Med. 336(18):1269–75
- Todd M, Chassin L, Presson CC, Sherman SJ.

1996. Role stress, role socialization, and cigarette smoking: examining multiple roles and moderating variables. *Psychol. Addict. Behav.* 10(4):211–21

- Tomaka J, Blascovich J, Kibler J, Ernst JM. 1997. Cognitive and physiological antecedents of threat and challenge appraisal. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 73(1):63–72
- Unger JB, Johnson CA, Stoddard JL, Nezami E, Chou CP. 1997. Identification of adolescents at risk for smoking initiation: validation of a measure of susceptibility. Addict. Behav. 22(1):81–91
- Valdimarsdottir H, Bovbjerg D, Kash K, Holland J, Osborne M, et al. 1995. Psychological distress in women with a familial risk of breast cancer. *Psycho-oncology* 4:133–41
- Vassend O, Eskild A, Halvorsen R. 1997. Negative affectivity, coping, immune status, and disease progression in HIV infected individuals. *Psychol. Health* 12(3): 375–88
- Vena JE, Graham S, Zielezny M, Brasure J, Swanson MK. 1987. Occupational exercise and risk of cancer. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 45(1):318–27 (Suppl.)
- Verrier E, Boyle EM Jr. 1996. Endothelial cell injury in cardiovascular surgery. Ann. Thorac. Surg. 62(3):915–22
- Verrier RL, Mittelman MA. 1996. Lifethreatening cardiovascular consequences of anger in patients with coronary heart disease. *Cardiol. Clin.* 14(2):289–307
- Viinamaki H, Niskanen L, Koskela K. 1997. Factors predicting health behavior. Nord. J. Psychiatry 51(6):431–38
- Wang CS, Chou P. 1996. The prevalence and motivating factors of adolescent smoking at a rural middle school in Taiwan. Subst. Use Misuse 31(10):1447–58
- Wang T, Delahanty DL, Dougall AL, Baum A. 1998. Responses of natural killer cell activity to acute laboratory stressors at different times of the day. *Health Psychol*. In press

- Webster EL, Elenkov IJ, Chrousos GP. 1997. The role of corticotropin-releasing hormone in neuroendocrine-immune interactions. *Mol. Psychiatry* 2(5):368
- Weiss SM, Fielding JE, Baum A, eds. 1991. Perspectives in Behavioral Medicine: Health at Work. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum
- Weisse C. 1992. Depression and immunocompetence: a review of the literature. *Psychol. Bull.* 111(3):475–89
- Wenger NS, Kusseling FS, Beck K, Shapiro MF. 1994. When patients first suspect and find out they are infected with the human immunodeficiency virus: implications for prevention. *AIDS Care* 6(4):339–405
- Wilson T, Jaccard J, Minkoff H. 1996. HIVantibody testing: beliefs affecting the consistency between women's behavioral intentions and behavior. J. Appl. Soc. Psychol. 26:1734–48
- Wing RR. 1995a. Changing diet and exercise behaviors in individuals at risk for weight gain. Obesity Res. 3(Suppl. 2):S277-82
- Wing RR. 1995b. What are our psychotherapeutic options? In Obesity Treatment: Establishing Goals, Improving Outcomes, and Reviewing the Research Agenda, ed. DB Allison, FX Pi-Sunyer, pp. 163–65. New York: Plenum
- Wortley P, Chu S, Diaz T, Ward J, Doyle B, et al. 1995. HIV testing patterns: where, why and when were persons with AIDS tested for HIV? AIDS 9:487–92
- Zakowski SG. 1995. The effects of stressor predictability on lymphocyte proliferation in humans. *Psychol. Health* 10(5):409–25
- Zakowski SG, Hall MH, Baum A. 1992a. Stress, stress management, and the immune system. Appl. Prev. Psychol. 1(1): 1–13
- Zakowski SG, McAllister CG, Deal M, Baum A. 1992b. Stress, reactivity, and immune function in healthy men. *Health Psychol*. 11(4):223–32